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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

DAVE WILLIAMS and REBA WILLIAMS,
Plaintiffs and Counter Defendants,

V. No. 16-cv-1633 (VAB)
RANDALL BEAN, ELIZABETH BLACK

BEAN, et al.,
Defendants and Counter Claimants.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTERCLAIMS
AND MOTION TO SEAL

Dave Williams and Reba Williams (collectiyel'Plaintiffs,” “Counter Defendants” or
“Williamses”) brought this action against Randadéan, Elizabeth Black, Christopher Bean, and
Matthew Bean (collitively, “Defendants,” “Counter Claimants,” or “Besl) in the Connecticut
Superior Court for the Judicial District biew London. ECF No. 1-2. The Beans removed this
case to this Court. ECF No. 1. The Beans filed Counterclaims against the Williamses. ECF
No. 26. The Williamses filed a motion to dismiss the Counterclaims. ECF No. 30. Defendants
then filed Amended Counterclaims. ECF No. fiie Court agreed to consider the original
motion to dismiss, ECF No. 30, as applyindgite Amended Counterclaims, and allowed the
parties to file supplemental briefing as te tiew allegations in the Amended Counterclaims.
ECF No. 49; ECF No. 50. The Wilhases then filed a supplemental motion to dismiss as to the
new allegations in the Amended Counterclaims. ECF No. 57.

As the parties briefed the motion to diseias to the Counterclaims and the Amended
Counterclaims, the parties indiedtthat the Williamses would bequesting that Ms. Williams’s

deposition transcript and all exhibits to thlaposition be desigread Confidential under the
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Court’s Standing Protective Ondé&CF No. 11, and that the pad would, therefore, be filing
documents under seal pending the resolutiondi$ute over whether the documents should, in
fact, be sealecbee, e.g.4/7/2017 Motion to Seal at 1-2, EQNo. 39 (“Defendants object to
Plaintiffs’ designation of the entire transcrgftReba Williams’ deposition and all exhibits
thereto being designated Confidential . . . DdBnts assume that the designations of the
deposition transcript and exhibits were madeause Plaintiffs believe they implicate a
legitimate expectation of privacy. Defendants disagree . . . Defendants plan to meet and confer
with counsel for Plaintiffs regarding this mattemgdahen seek relief from the Court if such meet
and confer does not yield positive resultsOh July 24, 2017, the Court provisionally granted
the most recent motion to seal pending thelutiem of the underlying dipute over whether Ms.
Williams’s deposition and the attachech#its should be sealed. ECF No. 64.

For the reasons that follow, the Court h&RANTS in part andDENIES in part the
Williams’ Motion to Dismiss the Beans’ Counterclaims.

As explained below, the CouRDERS that all documents must be unsealed.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 1

This matter is a dispute between neighbors. The Williamses allegedly reside in
Greenwich, Connecticut. Amend. @dercl. § 14, ECF No. 40. TiBeans allegedly reside in
Boston, Massachusettd. I 13. Matthew Bean and ChristoplB®an are the adult children of
Mr. Bean and Ms. Blacklid. 11 20-21.

On October of 2014, Mr. Bean and Ms. Bladlegedly purchased a home at 28 Water

Street in Stonington, Conneatic(the “Bean Property”). Amend. Countercl. § 22. The house on

1 The Court includes only factual allegations that are relevant to the motion to dismiss the Counterclaims and the
Amended Counterclaims in this section.



the Bean Property was built around 1870 enwokeed of repair at the timkiel. The Bean Property
allegedly had, as a defining chaeaestic, uninterrupted views dflontauk Point, Fishers Island,
and the Fishers Island Sound (“Water Views).{ 23. The Beans allegedly purchased the Bean
Property primarily because of the Water Views and the property&rfnant locationld. § 24.
The Beans allege that they began mguvinto the Bean Property on June 5, 2046 77.

The Williamses allegedly own two houses in Stonington that immediately surround the
Bean Property (collectively, éh*'Williams Properties”). Amend. Countercl. 1 48. One house,
located at 24 Water Street, is immediately raodr to the Bean Property (“24 Water Street”).
Id. 1 49. The second house, located at 29 Water Sisdetated directlycross the street from
the Bean Property (“29 Water Streefd). One of the Williams Properties has a dddk 42.

Defendants allege that the Williamses “havaistory of antagonistic relations with the
Stonington community as detailedan article published bihe New London Day in March
2011.” Amend. Countercl.  50. Defendants further allege that the Williamses filed two separate
lawsuits in or around 2009 against the previowsers of the Bean Property, alleging a property
line disputeld. 11 51-52. The Beans allege that the mpnesiowners of the Bean Property sold
them the property “well below their initial asking price, in part, because of the Williams’
harassing actionsld. § 53.

A. Design Plan and StoningtorPlanning and Zoning Commission

Before the Beans purchased the Bean Prpptbity allegedly met ith an architect to
determine what renovations they could makth&oexisting house under the Town of Stonington
Planning and Zoning Commissi¢tstonington P&Z”) Guidelines. Amend. Countercl. § 25. An
experienced architect allegedly assisted tiredeveloping a renovatn design (the “Design

Plan”) that included instatig predominantly south and southwest-facing windows to “take



advantage of south facing solar gairg tlatural light, and the Water Viewsd. § 26. The

Design Plan allegedly placed as few windowseasible on the north side of the home because
of the absence of any solar gaimaitural light from that directiond. § 27. Overall, the Design
Plan allegedly added windows and changed tageisf certain spaces, but did not change the
footprint or height of the exing house on the Bean Propeity. I 28.

Before submitting the Design Plan to thergmngton P&Z, the Beans allege that they
asked the real estate agents for the Bean Pyojerquire as to whether the Williamses, as the
owner of the properties next door and actbssstreet from the Bean Property, had any
objectionsld. T 29. The real estate agent allegedly rieggbthat the Williamses did not object to
the Design Planlid.  30.

On March of 2015, the Beans allegedly westkwvith the Stonington P&Z officer to
submit their design plan for approval. § 31. Many in the Stonington community allegedly
supported the plan, with around B@ighbors either sending lettexssupport to Stonington P&Z
or planning to attend the plaaview hearing in supportd. § 32. Two houd®lds allegedly
objected to the Design Pldd. I 33. The Williamses were, allegedly, not among these objectors.
Id. The Stonington P&Z allegedly appralef the Design Plan unanimouslg. § 35.

Following the Stonington P&Z’s approval tife Design Plan for the Bean Property, the
individuals who had allegedly oppxsthe Design Plan, Martimdurner and Larry Alstiel and
Paul Koushouris (collectively, tH®esign Plan Objectat’), allegedly filedtwo lawsuits against
“the Town of Stonington, Stongton Planning & Zoning, Stoninmt Zoning Board of Appeals,
and the Bean Familyld. § 36. Ms. Durner and Mr. Alstiallegedly contacted multiple
neighbors, including the Williamses, in an efftartouild support for Ms. Durner and Mr.

Alstiel’'s lawsuit.ld. § 37.



In November of 2015, the Beans allegedly agr® a stipulated settlement with the
Design Plan Objectors that the Beans, moWwamgrard, would not make changes to the Design
Plan for a period of ten yeatsd. I 38. The Williamses allegedly named Ms. Durner and Mr.
Alstiel as principal witnesses in the tiea currently pending before the Coud. § 39.

B. Dock Permit

In or around August of 2015, the Beans allegéitdd an application for a dock permit to
build a short dock on the Bean Propelty.{ 41. They allegedly senbtifications to their
immediate neighbors, including the Williamsksk.Mr. Williams allegedly opposed the
Defendants’ dock permit applicatioid. § 42. The opposition letter from the Williamses
allegedly stated, in relevantpathat “[w]hen we brought ourome, 24 Water Street, six years
ago, we were informed that no more docks would be permitted in the Commons to the Point
area.”’ld. 1 43. The Stonington Harbbtarine Commission allegeglapproved the Beans’ dock
permit application unanimously, with a 10-0 vote, roughly one month ldt€f44.

The Beans allegedly proceeded to makeaessary dock permit application to the State
of Connecticut Department of EnergydaEnvironmental Protection (“DEEP”). Amend.
Countercl. § 45. On February 29, 2016, DEERjelity granted tentative approval for the dock
permit for the Bean Propertid. The Beans allege that, arouné time of DEEP’s February 29,
2016, tentative approval for their dock permitleggiion, the Williamses began to harass them.
Id. 1 47. On March 28, 2016, DEEP allegedly georenal approval for the dock permit, and the
Beans began preparing to construct the dmtl] 68. The Williamses allegedly appealed the

decision to DEEP, which aliedly denied their appeddl. T 69.



C. Allegedly HarassingActivities by Mr. Williams and Ms. Williams
1. Correspondence with Individuals

On August 31, 2015, Ms. Williams allegedignt an e-mail to a neighbor Lynn Young
that read, in part, “Mr. Bean plans to buiidh enough to see over our hedge. If he does and
peers into our privacy, we’ll know hegspeeping tom.” Amend. Countercl. T 34.

On February 9, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly sent an e-mail to another neighbor, stating
that the renovated Bean Progeituin[ed] the look of Water $¢et,” and called Mr. Bean a
“parbarian.” Amend. Countercl. T 40.

On March 4, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly sent another e-mail to someone named
“Josie,” stating in relevant pattat Mr. Bean “told the world he’duild to see into our yard and
he’s done it.” Amend. Countercl. 55 n. 3.

In or around March 6, 2016, Mr. Williams allegedly sent an e-mail to neighbor Betty
Richards that read, in relevgrdrt: “Reba wants me to sendstbn. For her, the dock does it.
Can't live with that and aklse next door. We’'ll have tmove.” Amend. Countercl.  46.

Ms. Williams allegedly also sent an e-ntailMr. Alstiel on March 7, 2016, stating that
Mr. Bean “had said he planned to build sghhhe could see over our hedge into our garden.”
Amend. Countercl. T 59.

On April 5, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly sent an e-mail to neighbor Spike Lobdell,
which stated that “Mr. Bean was telling peoptev he was going to build a tall place which
would overlook ours, including our g#en — ruining our privacy. He did what he said he would.”

Amend. Countercl. § 70 n. 4.



On July 18, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly samt e-mail to neighbor Annette Blaugrund,
stating that Mr. Williams and Ms. Williams ‘&ve being ‘spied upon’ by the Bean Family.”
Amend. Countercl. | 85.

On July 20, 2016, Mr. Williams allegedly sedéntical e-mails to five neighbors, Tom
Hausman, Al Razzano, Heidi Reavis, Betty Ridsaand Mary Fitzgibbons. Amend. Countercl.
1 86. This e-mail allegedly stated that “B®ans were snooping on the Williams” and further
stated that “last week a young man from reoer began taking photographs of us in our
garden.”ld.

On October 20, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly sent an e-mail to Ms. Young, stating that
“just like [previous owner of the Bean Prapd Hobbs,’ the Bean Family ‘won’t stop.”

Amend. Countercl. § 107. This e-mail allegedlyntven to accuse one Defendant of “staring at
Ms. Williams” and further stated that the Willigses only sued the Beans “because the Beans
refused twice to agree stay out of our propertyltd. The Beans allege thtte allegations about
them in this e-mail are falskl.  108. The Beans furthallege that these accusations are likely
to harm their reputations and damagenthin their professional endeavotd. § 109. The Beans
further allege that these accusations are likelyarm Christopher Beans’s reputation and
damage him in his nascent professional endeakbr$.110.
2. Correspondence with Multiple Recipients

a. The March 4, 2016 E-mail to Multiple Stonington Residents

On March 4, 2016, at a time when the Beans allege that they had yet to meet the
Williamses, the Beans allege that they learnedl ttie Williamses had circulated a disparaging e-
mail about them to numerous residents of Stgitn. Amend Countercl. { 54-55. In this e-mail,

the Williamses allegedly accused the Beans oiigtdihey were “friends” with Mr. Williams and



Ms. Williams.Id. 1 55. This e-mail further alleged thdt. Bean and Ms. Black told an
unidentified third party that theyad designed the Bean Propédy that they could look into
the Williams’ garden.’ld.

On March 5, 2016, Ms. Black allegedly respeddo this e-mail by sending Mr. Williams
an e-mail that stated, in relevardrt, that “we have never irgdited in writing or conversation
that we are ‘friends with you gour wife,” and that “we have mer, in writing or conversation,
indicated that the reasdor this purchase was so that we could look at your gardens,” and “I can
assure you that we have absolutely no itn@nof interfering withyour privacy and look
forward to being cordial and respecthdighbors.” Amend. Countercl. I 57.

Ms. Williams allegedly responded to Ms.aBk’s e-mail with a March 7, 2016, e-mail to
neighbor Ms. Richards, stating that, just as iorpyears when they had been “made miserable”
by the previous owner of the Bean Propentipm Ms. Williams referred to as “Horrible
Hobbs,” it was happening again. Amend. Counté&f&8. Ms. Williams’s e-mail allegedly said
that Ms. Black’s was “lying” in Ms. Black’s March 5, 2016, e-méil.

Ms. Williams allegedly responded to M&lack’s March 5, 2016, e-mail in March 7,
2016, e-mail stating, in relevant part:

| have no interest in the gla All that | care abous$ recent behavior of your

husband. You imply that | have migttd facts about him. | hakeigeamounts

of backup from people who detest yiath. Should | have to go to court for

anything -- they have all offeredgport. At one time | thought you were

innocent, and didn’t know anything aboutur husband’s behavior. | now know

better.

Amend. Countercl. { 60 (emphasis in original)e Beans allege thatdi have no knowledge of
what “behavior” Ms. Williams was referring to atite Beans alleged that they were “baffled and

alarmed.”ld. 11 61-62. Mr. Bean allegedly contactbd Stonington Police Department to

express his concerns about Ms. Williams’s e-mail.



On March 8, 2016, Mr. Bean allegedly sante-mail to both the Williamses, explaining,
among other things, that “I want to make abundacithar that at no staghkd we ever make any
comments with regard to you, nor would we hang reason to,” and &h“[w]e hope to be
cordial neighbors.” Countercl. § 64. Mr. Bedlegedly invited the Williamses to ask any
guestions about the renovation plans at the Baperty and further invited the Williamses for
drinks.Id. The e-mail emphasized that the Beanss§ass only goodwill with regard to you, and
a “hope that you will come to feel the same wag.”

Roughly an hour later on March 8, 2006, Ms. Williams allegedly responded with an e-
mail stating that:

As a consequence of your constantly ilegcyourself in our lives we are leaving

Stonington. We do not want tive next door to you. Doot contact us again.

You will always be the person who hasded me away from a house and garden

| love.

Amend. Countercl. § 65.
b. E-mails to the “Private Lives” E-mail List

On March 14, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedlyns@an e-mail to an e-mail group called
“Private Lives.” Amend. Countercl. § 67. Tlasmail allegedly accused Mr. Bean of improperly
obtaining approval for renovations the Bean Property, afarther allegedly that the
renovations were “out-of-codeld.

On May 26, 2016, Ms. Williams allegedly senb¢her e-mail to “Private Lives,” stating
that “Mr. Bean had said that ‘[t]his house underoneation is going to be dall | will be able to
look right into the Williams’ garden.” Amend. Cowertl. I 74. She allegedly further stated that
“[t]lthe renovations to the Bean Property were ‘designed for spying’ on the Williams, and again

suggested that the members of Bean Family are peeping tomsd’ Neighbor Susan

Kinsolving allegedly responded to Ms. Wilis's May 26, 2016, e-mail, writing that the



Williamses should “shin[e] very bright lights baakthem [which] might force them to lower
blinds and pull curtainsd. § 75. Ms. Williams allegedly respordi€[W]e’ll have to figure out
how to do it.”ld.

On June 3, 2016, Ms. Williams allegediynsanother e-mail toPrivate Lives.”ld. § 76.
The Beans allege that, at this time, theyl yet to move into the Bean Propeltly Ms.
Williams’s e-mail allegedly stated that “sevepadople’ were ‘staring’ and ‘looking at us’ from
the Bean Property.”

On September 12, 2016, Mr. Williams allegesként an e-mail to “Private Livedd. 1
98. This e-mail allegedly informed recipients ttieg Williamses had filed suit against the Beans
to “prevent their eavesdropping, spying, and photagray us and our guests while we are in our
property,” and it allegedly noted that Williamses had sued the previous owners of the Bean
Property Id. Defendants allege that this e-mail conéal statements concerning them that were
false.ld. 1 99.

C. The April 5, 2016 Letter

On April 5, 2016, the Williamses allegedlynsa letter to seval other people in
Stonington that “disparaged the Bean Family’'mbd “suggested that the Bean Family were
‘peeping toms™ and claimed that Mr. Beardhsaid that “the Bean Property had been
specifically designed to see into the Williangard.” Amend. Countercl. { 70. The Beans allege

that they only learned about this letter after this case was firstlfilefl.71.

10



d. The October 5, 2017 Letter

On October 6, 2016, the Williamses allegestiynt a letter to sevad other people in
Stonington (the “October 2016 Lette?’Amend. Countercl. §{ 100-01. This letter allegedly
contained “additional disparaging statements about the Bean Faluil§j.102. It allegedly
contained statements about the Beans that are lidl§e103.

The Beans allege that tRetober 2016 Letter containéalse statements that are
injurious, “particularly to Chrigtpher Bean who is in the gress of launching his career.”
Amend. Countercl.  104. Specifically, this letter allegedly falsely claimed that Christopher had
trespassed on the Williams Properties and again described the Defendants as “peepiidy toms.”
1 105.

The October 2016 Letter allegedly stated that the Williamses had filed this lawsuit and
that they “expect[ed] the tii¢o attract the press, perneantly damaging” Christopher Bean.
Amend. Countercl. 1 106.

3. Other Acts

In April 2016, the Beans allegedly learned that Mr. Williams had requested a copy of the
Bean Property Design Plan from the StoningtorzPA&mend. Countercl. I 72. In light of this
and Ms. Williams’ earlier reference to being willing to go to court, id. 60, Mr. Bean and Ms.
Black allegedly instructed the contractorsriwing on the Bean Property “to be extremely
sensitive to the Williamseand the Williams Propertiesld. { 73.

The Beans allege that they first movetbithe Bean Property for the summer on June 5,

2016. Amend. Countercl.  77. The Beans allege onathis date, while they were moving their

2 The Beans allege that Ms. Williams sent an Octobe®¥6 2-mail to “Private Lives” that was identical to the
October 2016 Letter, except for the added signature, “Fondly, Reba.” Amend. Countercl. 1 100 n. 5.

11



belongings, “Ms. Williams stood at the side ent&of her property,” “very close” to the Bean
Property, “holding an iPad ortwr digital recording devicand point[ing] and gestur[ing]
wildly.” Id. § 78. Mr. Williams allegedly stood next to hit. Allegedly, neither Ms. Williams
nor Mr. Williams spoke directlyo Mr. Bean or Ms. BlacKd. The Beans allege that “this was
intended to cause Mr. Bean and Ms. Blazkurn and look in her directionld.

Several days later, Mr. Williams allegedlyded directly in front of the Bean Property
on the sidewalk, obstructing the entrance eéoBlkan Property from the street.” Amend.
Countercl. 79. The Beans alletiat “this action was designéal provoke a response form Mr.
Bean or Ms. Black.1d.

The Beans allege that, following these deeits, the Williamses “have continued to
harass” the Beans when thegivihe Bean Property. Amen@ountercl. § 80. Specifically, the
Beans allege that, on over ten occasions throughout the summer of 2016, “the Williams|[es] have
positioned themselves close to the Bean Property, making inflammatory gestures, or stood
directly in front of the Bean Propertyld. { 81. The Beans allege that they felt “intimidated,
threatened and bullied by the Williams’ patterrbehavior,” that these actions have “made the
Bean Family uncomfortable moving abougithown home when the Williams are in
Stonington,” and that the Beangdreluctant to go outside whehe Williams are in Stonington
and avoid inviting friends and family to visit fégar that they will be subjected to the Williams’
harassment.Id. 11 82-84.

4. “The Wall of Trees”
The Williamses have allegedly planted a row of high trees designed to eliminate the

Water Views of the Bean Property. Amend. Cteucl. I 87. Before Mr. Bean and Ms. Black

12



purchased the Bean Property, the Williams Priggewere already allegedly protected by a
roughly six-foot tall mature hedgtel.  88.

On April of 2016, someone who representegtibelves as being employed as a gardener
by the Williamses allegedly telephoned Mr. Beaihis office and “advised him that the
Williams[es] intended to plant even taller tre¢sng the parties’ shared property line.” Amend.
Countercl. § 89. In May 2016, the Williamses alldlgelanted four large trees along the shared
property line, behinthe existing hedgdd. § 90. The Beans allege that these trees violate
Stonington P&Z guidelinedd. 1 91.

In June 2016, a person who allegedly repmésd themselves as being employed as a
gardener by the Williamses allegedly again aoted the Beans, and advised them that the
Williamses planned to plant additional, tallexes along the property line. Amend. Countercl. |
92. The previous four trees reeallegedly then removettl. § 93. On July 20, 2016, those trees
were allegedly replaced by thirtgller trees, each approximatéturteen feet tall, along the
boundary between the Williams Property and the Bean Property (the “Tree \'dall"he Beans
allege that the Tree Wall alslate StoningtoP&Z guidelinesld. 1 94. The Beans further
allege that these trees block large morsi of the Bean Propg’s Water Viewsld. 95.

The Beans allege that the current trees asespiecies that will likely grow to thirty feet
or more. Amend. Countercl.  96. The Beans alleggk ihthe trees attain this height, they would
be sufficient “to eliminate the Bean Family’siléip to enjoy the WateWiew[s] from any floor
of the Bean Propertyld. § 96. Defendants further allege tktia¢ Tree Wall “deprive[s] the Bean
Family of their enjoyment of their Propertgcahas impacted the Bean Property’s value and

marketability.”ld.

13



I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss for failure to state aich under Rule 12(b)(6) is designed “merely
to assess the legal feasibility of a complaint, not to assay the weight of evidence which might be
offered in support thereofOfficial Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of Color Tile, Inc. v.
Coopers & Lybrand, LLP322 F.3d 147, 158 (2d Cir. 2003) (internal citations omitted). When
deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a touust accept the material facts alleged in the
complaint as true, draw all reasonable inferencéavior of the plaintiff, and decide whether it is
plausible that the plaintiff has a valid claim for reli&ghcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 67879
(2009);Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (200Th; re NYSE Specialists Sec.
Litig., 503 F.3d 89, 95 (2d Cir. 2007).

A plaintiff's “[flactual allegations must benough to raise a righd relief above the
speculative level,” and assert a sawf action with enough heft to show entitlement to relief and
“enough facts to state a claim to rélieat is plausible on its faceTwombly 550 U.S. at 555,

570. A claim is facially plausible ithe plaintiff pleads factualantent that allows the court to
draw the reasonable inference that the migdi@t is liable for the misconduct allegelfjbal, 556

U.S. at 678. Although “detailec@d¢tual allegations” are not reqedl, a complaint must offer

” o ”

more than “labels and conclusions,” “a formulaacitation of the element# a cause of action,
or “naked assertion [s]” devoid of “further factual enhancemdntdmbly 550 U.S. at 555-57.
Plausibility at the pleading stags nonetheless distinct fropnobability, and “a well-pleaded
complaint may proceed even if it strikes a saunvge that actual proof of [the claims] is

improbable, and . . . recovery is very remote and unlikédly &t 556 (internal quotation marks

omitted).
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lll.  DISCUSSION

The Bean Family raises eight claims foretlinder Connecticut law. Count One brings a
claim for abuse of process against the Williamses. Amend. Couhfgfdli11-16. Count Two
brings a claim for invasion of privacy against the WilliamsesY{ 117—-20. Count Three brings
a claim for defamation against Williamses as to their various alleged communiciatigi§s.
121-25. Count Four brings a claim of abselprivate nuisance against the Williamdds{{
126-31. Count Five brings a claim of negligent private nuisance against the Willi¢&ohn§&s.
132-36. Count Six alleges that the Williamses in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-570
through the planting of the Tree Wddll. 1 137—42. Count Seven alleges that the Williamses
are in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52—480jchitprovides for potential injunctive relief
requiring the removal of the Tree Wdl. 1 143—-49. Count Eight brings a claim for private
enforcement of Stonington Borough zoning regates that allegedly prohibit the Tree Wall
against the Williamsedd. 1 150-65.

For the following reasons, the Court grantpamt and denies in part the motion to
dismiss. The Court grants the motion to dismssint One in its entirety and Count Five and
Count Six as to Christophand Matthew Bean. The Court otherwise denies the motion to
dismiss Count Two through and including Count Eight.

A. Abuse of Process

The Williamses argue that the Beans’ ceuciaim for abuse of process is premature
absent disposition of the underlying litigation. PIs.” Br. 5. The Beans argue that prior resolution
of the underlying litigation is na@n element of abuse of process at common law. Defs.” Resp. 4—

5. The Court agrees with the Williamses. The Witi&a motion to dismiss the claim is granted.

3 Each Count incorporates the preceding gaphs in the Beans’ Counterclaims.
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Under Connecticut law, “[a]n action for aleusf process lies against any person using a
legal process against anotheaimimproper manner or to accomplish a purpose for which it was
not designed.Passaro-Henry v. Allstate Ins. C&o. 3:10-CV-450 JCH, 2010 WL 5174405, at
*3 (D. Conn. Dec. 15, 2010) (quotingrobina v. McDonald274 Conn. 394, 403 (2005));

Rogan v. Runged65 Conn. App. 209, 220 (2016). Central taaation for abuse of process is
the use of legal procesadainst another [partgrimarily to accomplish a purpose for which it is
not designed. Abuse of processjuires conduct (1) ocaing after tle issuance of process and
(2) intendedprimarily to accomplish a purpose for which the process is not desigPasisaro-
Henry, 2010 WL 5174405, at *8nternal citations omitted and quotation marks omitteeg
alsoDoctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Weibl@2 F.3d 108, 114 (2d Cir. 1996) (“[L]iability for abuse of
process lies only when the ofiging party overtly misuses tipeocess once the proceeding has
begun.”).

“Although abuse of process claims do not ineldiavorable termination as an essential
element, the cause of action is still considered premature until theyingditigation has been
completed."MacDermid v. Leonettil58 Conn. App. 176, 184 (2015) (citihgrobina v.

McDonald 274 Conn. 394, 407—08 (2005)).

The Williamses brought suit against the Beanth@Connecticut Superior Court for the
Judicial District of New LondorECF No. 1-2. The Beans removed this case to this Court, EDF
No. 1, and subsequently brought Counterclaageinst the Williamse€CF No. 26. The Beans
moved the Court to dismiss the Williamses Ceuriaims, ECF No. 30, which brings us to the

L1}

current moment. The Beans’ “cause of action is . . . premature until the underlying litigation has

been completed,” and must be dismisdddcDermid 158 Conn. App. at 184 (2015).

16



The Beans’ attempt to distinguisrobinais misplaced. IlLarobina plaintiff brought
suit against a bank for breach of contract, neglog, defamation and a number of other claims
sounding in federal and state ldvarobina 274 Conn. at 396—-97. While the first matter was
pending in Superior Court, plaintiff broughsacond action against thank and the attorneys
defending the bank in the underygilawsuit alleging, among othelaims, abuse of procedd.
at 397. While the court recognized that succeslsarfirst action was not a prerequisite for a
claim of abuse of process, tbeurt noted that “the eventualitcome of that action and the
evidence presented by the parties therein wouldlesant in litigatng an abuse of process
claim.” Id. at 407. When plaintiff brought the second@t, he had not yet established that the
bank was not legally entitled toglmoney that plaintiff claims éhdefendants were attempting to
extort from him by their allegedly oppressiigation tactics, or that the bank had “no good-
faith reason to believe that it [was] entitledtte money,” which were ssies in dispute in the
underlying litigationld. at 407—-08. “Moreover, allowing the alaicould subject the courts to a
flood of similarly duplicative clans and effectively dh the vigorous representation of clients
by their attorneys.Id. at 408.

These reasons apply with equal force ®rmatter before the Court. Here, like in
Larobina the Beans have yet to establish that thiidamses were not legally entitled to any of
the relief the Williamses seek, which the Beans allege form the basis of the Williamses’
allegedly oppressive litigatiosee idat 407. Neither have the Beans, likd_arobing,
established that the Williamses have “no goodifegtason to believe that [the Williamses are]
entitled to the [relief]."See idat 407-08. “Those very issueg @n dispute in the [instant]

action.”ld. at 408.
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While the Williamses have alleged that the October 28ttér stated that the Williamses
“expect[ed] the trial to attract the prepsymanently damaging” Christopher Bean, Amend.
Countercl. § 106, at this juncture, the Gowmill not presume that the Williamses hawb good-
faith reason’to bring suitLarobing 274 Conn. at 407-08. Because the “gravamen of the action
for abuse of process is the useadégal process against anotpgmarily to accomplish a
purpose for which it is not designedy” at 403, absent disposition of this case, the Court is not
in a position to assess whether the Whtises’ use of legal process was designethiarily to
accomplish a purpose for which it is not designédl;’see also idat 403—04 (noting that
comment b to the Restatement Second (192Zpdk § 682 “explains that the addition of
primarily is meant to exclude liability when the process is used for the purpose for which it is
intended, but there is an incidental motive afespr an ulterior purpose of benefit to the
defendant.”). “Moreover, allowig the claim could subject the]gtirt[] to a flood of similarly
duplicative claims and effectively chill the vigorous representation of [the Williamses] by their
attorneys."ld. at 408.

Contrary to the Beans’ contention tfiRdganoverturned_arobina sub silentip
RoganandLarobinaexist in harmonyln Rogan also a dispute between neighbors, defendant
brought a counterclaim againgtintiff for abuse of proess. 165 Conn. App. at 212-13. The
court affirmed the lower court’s determination thiare was sufficient evidence in the record to
support Defendant’s claiwf abuse of proceskl. at 219. Because, howevea|l“of the counts
of the plaintiff’s complaint had been strickent@ad been disposed of by summary judgment . . .
by the time this case came on for trial . . . they isdues before the court were those raised by
the defendant’s five[-]Jcount counterclaim,” inding defendant’s claim @fbuse of proceskd.

at 213. At the time of trial, the court Roganwas able assess whethes filaintiff's use of legal
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process was designedrimarily to accomplish a purpose fahich it is not designed.”
Larobina 274 Conn. at 403. The same is not true here.

The Williams’ motion to dismiss the abuse of process claim is therefore gfanted.

B. Invasion of Privacy

The Beans contend that the Williamses aliihgacted with intention to intrude on the
Beans’ private enjoyment of tidiome with such severity & cause the Beans to feel
intimidated, embarrassed and bullied. Amendur@ercl. 11 70-75. The Williamses move to
dismiss the Beans’ counterclaim for invasiorpa¥acy on two bases: That the Beans fail to
allege the Williamses acted withe requisite intention andahthe Williams’ alleged conduct
was not sufficiently offensive. Pls.’ Br. at 5-6. The Court finds the Beans have plead sufficient
detail to merit further factual discovery.

“One who intentionally intrudes physically ohetrwise, upon the solitude or seclusion of
another or his private affairs or concerns, igjsct to liability to the other for invasion of
privacy, if the intrusion would be highbffensive to a reasonable perso@allagher v.
Rapoport No. CV 960149891S, 1997 WL 240907, at *2 (@oSuper. Ct. May 6, 1997) (citing
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 652B (1977)).

The Beans alleged that “Ms. Williams staatdthe side entrance of her property,”
“holding an iPad or other diil recording device and pointfj] and gestur[ing] wildly.”
Amend. Countercl. § 78. “Connecticut trial courts/e allowed causes of actions asserting
unreasonable intrusion based upon claims of non-physical con@aefllaro v. RosadaNo.

CV054009939, 2006 WL 2949143, at *4 (Conn. Super(OCct. 5, 2006) (listing cases in which

4 Because the Williamses’ claim fails for want of matyribe Court need not reach whether the Williamses have
plead sufficient facts to survive a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).
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courts have allowed claims of invasion oivacy to proceed where defendants made comments
about plaintiff's sex lives; eavesapiping on plaintiff's home; or secretly tape recorded another
employee). As alleged, a reasonable person could believe that Ms. Williams acted with intent to
intrude.See Cavallaro v. RosadNo. CV054009939, 2006 WL 2949143, at *4 (Conn. Super.

Ct. Oct. 5, 2006) (“[V]erbal statements or nplmysically intrusive anduct may adequately

support a claim for intrsion upon seclusion.”"WVIT, Inc. v. GrayNo. CV 950547689S, 1996

WL 649334, at *4 (Conn. Super. Ct. Oct. 25, 1998] flomplaint alleginghat an employee has

for personal reasons [surreptitiously] recordeavensations of a fellow employee . . . states a
cause of action for unreasonable intrusionh@nprivacy of another by intruding on their

‘person.™).

The Williamses argue that at all times tivegre on their own property and intrusion
upon seclusion cannot lie where mattas “exhibited tahe public gaze.Fiorillo v. Berkley
Adm’rs No. CV010458400S, 2004 WL 1153678, at *»(@. Super. Ct. May 5, 2004). It
cannot be that by virtue oféhWilliams “public” conduct, anything viewed by them from their
own property is necessarily open to public gaze. After all, Stonington Borough is allegedly
“densely populated,” Amend. Countercl. fahd the Beans acknowleglthat the Bean and
Williams properties are “immediately adjacent.”rd. T 6. While the Beans are ostensibly not
well positioned to know at th@eading stage whether Ms. WWalins was using the digital
recording device or what was recorded witlif ignything, the Beans have offered enough detail
to plausibly allege that the Williamses, from their own property, could have overseen or
overheard the Williams’ private affairs using a digital recording deeeRestatement

(Second) of Torts § 652B, cmt. b (1977) (“It nego be by the use of the defendant’s senses,
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with or without mechanical aids, to overse@werhear the plaintiff private affairs, as by
looking into his upstairs windoswvith binoculars or tappg his telephone wires.”).

The Williams’ motion to dismiss the Beartdaim for invasion of privacy is denied.

C. Defamation

The Beans allege that the Williamses hdetamed the Beans through a serious of e-
mails and letters Mr. or Ms. Williams semembers of the surrounding community. For
example, the Beans have alleged thafogust 31, 2015, Ms. Williams sent an e-mail to
neighbor Lynn Young allegedly stag “Mr. Bean plans to build high enough to see over our
hedge. If he does and peers iotg privacy, we’ll know he’s aeeping tom.” Amend. Countercl.
1 34. The Beans have alleged that, on February 9, 2016, Ms. Williams sent an e-mail to Ms.
Richards stating that éhBean Property “ruin[ed] the look Wfater Street,” and went on to call
Mr. Bean a “barbarian.d. § 40. The Beans have alleged that, on March 4, 2016, Ms. Williams
allegedly sent an e-mail to an individual naéasie,” stating that Mr. Bean “told the world
he’d build to see into oyrard and he’s done itld. § 55 n. 3. The Beans further allege that on
July 20, 2016, Ms. Williams sent identical e-reai five neighbors, Tom Hausman, Al Razzano,
Heidi Reavis, Ms. Richards, and Mary Fitzgibbpallegedly stating that the Beans were
snooping on the Williamses and that “lagtek a young man from next door began taking
photographs of us in our gardeid’ at 86°

Rather than address whether the Compldfotds the Williamses sufficient notice of the

communications complained of to enable them to defend themselves, the Williamses instead

5 The Court notes this list of allegations that the Beans contend are defamatory shouldadtdserepresenting
the totality of sufficiently plead defamatory comments.
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attempt to show how each communication ctzomed of fails as a matter of la8ee generally
Ps.” Supp. Br. This type of analysismappropriate at the pleading stage.

“Under Connecticut law, to establish a pairiacie case of defamation, a plaintiff must
demonstrate that: (1) the defendant publishedfamatory statement; (2) the defamatory
statement identified the plaintiff to a third person; (3) the defamatory statement was published to
a third person; and (4) the pl#ffis reputation suffered injury as a result of the statement.”
Bagley v. Yale Uniy42 F. Supp. 3d 332, 364 (D. Conn. 2014) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted)see also Gambardella v. Apple Health Care,,I281 Conn. 620, 627-28
(Conn. 2009).

The pleading of claims for defamation is goetrby the liberal standards of Fed. R. Civ.
P. 8, and not a more heightened standae@. Kelly v. Schmidberge&06 F.2d 44, 46 (2d Cir.
1986). “The test of a [defamation] complaingisfficiency is whethett is detailed and
informative enough to enable defendant to resottito raise the defem®f res judicata if
appropriate . . . . The centrarcern is that the complaint aftbdefendant sufficient notice of
the communications complainedtofenable him to defend himselfd. (internal quotation
marks and citations omitted). In order to provédeh sufficient notice, a plaintiff must plead
what defamatory statements were made coregithie plaintiff, when they were made, and to
whom they might have been madédrahams v. Young & Rubica®79 F. Supp. 122, 128 (D.
Conn. 1997)see also U.S. ex rel. Smith v. Yale U5 F. Supp. 2d 58, 109 (D. Conn. 2006)
(defamation plaintiff “must at least plead trantent of the alleged communications, when they
were made, the context in which they were made, or by and to whom they were made”). The

Beans have alleged facts thattgaach of these elements.
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Citing Dongguk University. Yale Universitythe Williamses argue that the Complaint
must plead and satisfy each element pfiaa faciecase of defamation. 734 F.3d 113, 123 (2d
Cir. 2013). The Court disagrees. Yes, “[ulnden@ecticut law, each statement is a separate
cause of action and requires proof of each efelements for defamation.” The Court, however,
must recognize the “difference between disppsiha case on a 12(b)(6) motion and resolving
the case later in the proceedinigs,example by summary judgmenBbyd v. Nationwide Mut.
Ins. Co, 208 F.3d 406, 410 (2d Cir. 2000).Dongguk Universitythe case under review
involved summary judgment, and is therefordirafted value to the matter pending before the
Court. 734 F.3d at 122.

1. Privilege

The Williams’ argument that, at the pleading stage, the Beans’ defamation claims are
privileged because they relate to matterpudilic concern and are therefore protected by the
First Amendment or are privileged as statemardde during the course of a judicial or quasi-
judicial proceeding, Pls.” Supp. Bat 3, is, on the limited facts before the Court, similarly
premature.

a. Public Concern

The U.S. Constitution places limits on common law defamation actibjmsa suit by a
private plaintiff involving a matter of public ncern, . . . defamatory statements must be
provably false, and the plaintiff must bear the burden of provisdyfaat least in cases where
the statements were directed towards a p@hidience with an interest in that concefldmm
v. Am. Ass’n of Univ. WomepR01 F.3d 144, 149 (2d Cir. 2000). “[W]hether a publication
addresses a matter of public concern ‘must beméted by the content, form, and context of a

given statement, as revealed by the whole recoldl. &t 150 (quotingConnick v. Myers461
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U.S. 138, 147 (1983)}[T]o survive this motion to dismis$a plaintiffl must have shown that a
reasonable person could find thia¢ challenged statement alleges or implies a provably false
fact.” Id. at 155.

The Beans have done just this. By wagxample, the Beans have alleged that Ms.
Williams’s May 26, 2016, e-mail to “Private Lives,astd that Mr. Bean had said that “[t]his
house under renovation is going to be so talllllva able to look right into the Williams’
garden.” Amend. Countercl. § 74. Ms. Williams g#dly further stated that the Renovation Plan
was “designed for spying” on the Williamsés. The Beans, however, have alleged that while
the Design Plan incorporated south and southvaesng windows “to takedvantage of south
facing solar gain, the natudaght, and the Water Viewsjt. 26, the Design Plan did not
change the footprint or height ofetlexisting home on the Bean Propeldy.f 28.Assuming, but
not deciding, that communicationsgarding the Design Plan aratters of public interest, the
challenged statement reasonably can be unaerstoimply that the Beans, by way of the
Design Plan, while provably false, intended to surveil the Williams’ private comings and goings.
See Flamni201 F.3d at 155. The Beans are entitled toinastwith this clain, and the authority
the Williamses cite to do not say otherwise. For exampl@piodrich v. Watdury Republican-
American, Inc.in which the court found #t the challenged articlgmiblished in defendant’s
newspaper were privileged as “newswonthgtters,” 188 Conn. 107, 134 (1982), the court was
reviewing plaintiff's assignment adrror to the trial court’s directing the verdict and refusing to
set aside the verdidd. at 107.Goodrich therefore, does not require a determination as to

whether certain alleged defamatory statetsiane privilege ahe pleading stage.
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b. Judicial Privilege

“In Connecticut, parties to avitnesses before judicial guasi-judicial poceedings are
entitled to absolute immunity for tle®ntent of statements made therekigld v. Kearns43
Conn. App. 265 (1996). “It iwell settled that commueations uttered or published in the course
of judicial proceedings are absolutely privilegediong as they are inree way pertinent to the
subject of the controversyGallo v. Barilg 284 Conn. 459, 465-66 (2007)he effect of an
absolute privilege in a defamation action is that damages cannot be recovered for a
defamatory statement even if it is published falsely and maliciouShatiha v. Charlotte
Hungerford Hosp.272 Conn. 776 (2005).

Judicial privilege does not bar the Beans’ defamation claim. The Williamses, as an
example, argue that Ms. Williams’s March 7, 2046nail to Mr. Alstiel is barred by absolute
privilege by virtue of the fact &t Mr. Alstiel was the alleged sirggtecipient, is allegedly one of
the Williams’ principle witnesses in this matterdahad allegedly contacted the Williamses in an
effort to build support for an earlier lawsuit Mustiel had brought, and sie settled, against the
Beans regarding the Design Plan. Pls.” SuppABA8. The Beans allege the March 7, 2016, e-
mail to Mr. Alstiel from Ms. Williams stated thgiMr.] Bean had said he planned to build so
high he could see over our hedge into our Gardeménd. Countercl. § 59.

Absent are details the Court would neethtelligently determine whether the privilege
applies, i.e.whether Mr. Alstiel’s lawsuit was “in someay pertinent to the subject of the
[instant] controversy.Gallo, 284 Conn. at 466. It is conceivabigven the paucity of factual
detail at the pleading stage, that Mr. Alstieallenged the Design Plan because it included
painting the exterior of the Beans’ home the ctdwender. While “the [CJourt must particularly

evaluate the factual circumstas peculiar to each case to determine whether application of
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absolute privilege is warranted,” at present, the Court is not able to idelwy. v. Bonney221
Conn. 549, 573 (1992).

With these allegations, the Williamses have provided “sufficient notice of the
communications complained of, and the more paldicdetails may be drawn out in discovery.”
Bailey v. ESPN, In¢cNo. 3:14-CV-01509 VAB, 2015 WL €3.101, at *8 (D. Conn. July 29,
2015) (citingBoyd 208 F.3d at 410) (observing the impaxa of “recogniz[ing] the difference
between disposing of a case on a 12(b)(6) motion and resolviocggsbdater in the proceedings,
for example by summary judgment” and notingttta plaintiff may #ege facts suggestive
enough to warrant discovery, ewshere those facts alone would mstablish a cause of action
for defamation”)

The Williams’ motion to dismiss the Bean'’s defamation claim is denied.

D. Absolute Private Nuisance and Negligent Private Nuisance

The Beans have brought both absolute peivatisance and negligent private nuisance
claims against the Williamses. The Beans halleged that the Williams’ actions, Amend.
Countercl. Y 78-81, including that the Williamses haagtioned themselves near or in front of
the Bean Property while “making inflammatory gesturesk,Y 81, Ms. Williams stood at an
entrance to the property holding “d@ad or other digital recoir device” while “gesture[ing]
wildly,” id. § 78, and the Williamses used their pergonsbstruct the entrance to the Bean
Property from the stredt]. I 79, all of which have “made the Bean Family uncomfortable
moving about their own homeld. { 83. The Beans alleged thane “reluctant to go outside

when the Williams are in Stonington and avoid imgtfriends and family to visit for fear that

6 Of course, if discovery yields no evidence to corroletiaése allegations, the claim must be dismissed at the
summary judgment stage.
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they will be subjected to the Wams’ harassment.” Amend. Countertd. { 84. The Beans
further allege that the Tree Wall the Williamgeanted along the Bean-Williams property line
blocks large portions of the Bean Property’s Water Viesvg] 95which the Beans allege is a
defining characteristic of the propertg. I 23. The Williamses contend that the Beans have
failed to complain of a condition that tendcause danger, an essahelement of private
nuisance and therefore the claims must faé asatter of law. The Williamses misstate the law
of nuisance.

Under Connecticut law & private nuisance exists only where one is injured in relation to
a right he enjoys by reason of hisrmwship of an interest in lanaVling Li v. Colonial BT, LLC
No. 3:14-CV-999 (CSH), 2015 WL 5684060, at *4 (D. Conn. Sept. 28, 2016)her words,
“[a] private nuisance is a nontresgsory invasion of another’stanest in the private use and
enjoyment of land.Pestey v. CushmaB59 Conn. 345, 352 (2002) (quoting 4 Restatement
(Second), Torts § 821D (1979)). “The esserdlaments of a private nuisance claim in
Connecticut are: (1) an unreasbleinterference with #hplaintiff's use and enjoyment of his or
her property; (2) the defendant’s conduckwlae proximate cause of the unreasonable
interference; and (3) if injunete relief is sought, that thdefendant’s conduct will cause
irreparable harm and there is no legal remety.2015 WL 5684060, at *4. Absolute nuisance
has the added requirement that the conduct be “intentidghaden v. Ensign-Bickford Ca25
Conn. App. 479, 490 (1991) (citirdonick v. Town of Greenwich44 Conn. 608, 611, 136
A.2d 501, 503 (1957)YIntentional . . . means not that aamg or the existence of a nuisance
was intended, but that the creator of it intenttelring about the conditis which are in fact

found to be a nuisancdd.
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The Beans have plausibly alleged that the Williams’ conduct, including planting the Tree
Wall, has unreasonably interfered with the Beans’ use and enjoyment of their property, the
Williamses’ conduct was the proximate cause & ithjury, and, at least relating to the Tree
Wall, the Beans have suffered irreparable injeiyrthermore, the Beans have alleged that the
Williams’ acted with thentention to bring abduhe conditions which the Beans allege are a
nuisance.

The Williamses argue that, under Connecticut, la claim of private nuisance requires a
condition on the Bean Property created by thidkhs’ purported conduct that has a tendency
to create danger. AResteyexplains, however, private nuisaric®concerned with conduct that
interferes with an individual’private right to the use andjepment of his or her land,” 259
Conn. at 357, whereas public nuisariis concerned with the inference with a public right,
and cases in this realm typicallwolve conduct that allegedlyterferes with te public health
and safety.ld.; see alsd.i, 2015 WL 5684060, at *4'The law of private nuisance arises from
the general principle that it tee duty of every person to kea reasonable use of his own
property so as to occasion no unnecessary gamaannoyance to his neighbor.” (internal
guotation marks omitted) (quotiiggilor v. C. W. Blakeslee & Sankl7 Conn. 241, 167 A. 548,
549 (1933))id. at *6 (stating that an “essential elemeat’public nuisancés that the “the
condition complained of has a nedlitendency to create dangerd inflict injury upon persons
or property”).But seePopow v. Town of StratfordNo. 307-CV-1620VLB, 2010 WL 537752 (D.
Conn. Feb. 12, 2010) (suggesting that @meint of private nuisance is @hdition” that has a
“natural tendency to create danger and infh@ry upon person or property” yet the claim at

issue was one sounding in public nuisance).
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Li does not suggest otherwise. In discussing the danger created by an apartment
complex’s poolLi states that plaintiffs “allegations deibe conditions which combine to allege
sufficiently” a claim for private nuisanckl. at *4. In other words, a dangerous condition is
sufficient but not necessary t@st a claim for private nuisancgee id.

The Williams’ motion to dismiss the Bean’s claims for absolute private nuisance and
negligent private nuisance claim is denied.

F. Conn. Gen. Stat. 88 52-480, 52-570

The Beans argue that the Williamses, actinigpwalicious intent, Amend. Countercl. |
139, “erected structures” on their pesfy in the form of a uniformow of 30 trees that are, at
present, approximatelpfirteen feet in heighigl. § 139, and designed to eliminate the Water
Views that “enticed” the Beans to puade the property in the first instantge.§ 87. The Beans
further alleged that the treesdocated on the border of the Bean Property and serve no useful
purpose to the Williamses other than to annoy and injure the Bdat4,40, by eliminating one
of the Property’s most desirable features, the YWéiws, thus impairing the fair market value
of the Propertyld. { 141.The Williamses, for their part, argtieat the Beans have failed to
sufficiently allege the “actual assistance” of &sture” which is of no use to the Williamses.
Pls.” Br. at 20. The Beans have alleged a$iltada violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 52-480, 52-
570, and the claims may proceed.

Connecticut law provides thga]n action may be maintagd by the proprietor of any
land against the owner or lessee of land adjaedrd, maliciously erects any structure thereon,
with intent to annoy or injure the plaintiff ms use or disposition dfis land.” Conn. Gen. Stat.
§ 52-570. Furthermore, “[@]n injunction may bagted against the malicious erection, by or

with the consent of an owner, lessee or pegstitled to the possession of land, of any structure
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upon it, intended to annoy and injure any owner ssde of adjacent land in respect to his use or
disposition of the same.” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-480.
“The elements essential to proveleatatutory section are the sam@eiger v. Carey
170 Conn. App. 459, 486—-87 (2017). Each statute requires the following:
(1) the defendant to have built a stureton said defendant’s land; (2) the
erection of the structure must haweeh malicious; (3) the defendant must
have intended to injure the enjoymeithe adjacent landowners land by the
erection of the structur€4) the structure must impair the value of the
plaintiff's land; (5) the sticture must be uselesstte defendant; and (6) the
enjoyment of the plaintiff's land must be, in fact, impaired.”

Id. at 486—87. The word “proptier” means an owneld. at 486 (2017).

Taken together, the Beans have plausibly alleged that the Williams have erected, with
malicious intention, a structure of thirty treeattrs of no use to the Williams’ other than to
diminish the Property’s market value and impghe Beans’ use and egjoent of the property.

Dalton v. Buadoes not require a differenttcome. 47 Conn. Supp. 645, 649 (2003).
While Dalton notes that “[a]n obstruction ahis not ‘artificially built up’ is not a ‘structure,id.
at 648, here, the Beans have plausibly alleged that the Tree'Wallposed of parts and joined
together in some definite mannes™artificially built up” to obstruct the Williams’ use of
enjoyment of their Propertpalton, 47 Conn. Supp. at 648ee also Patrell v. Gaudido.
CVv095012873S, 2010 WL 5610843, at *3 (Conn. Super. Ct. Dec. 15, 2@4ljqh does not
stand for the proposition that tleeis some inherent quality afhedge that categorically puts it
outside of the definitin of ‘structure.’””);id. (finding that defendant was not entitled to judgment
as a matter of law in a challenge to defendawinggplanted an earthenrdoe and line of trees on
her property). While the Williamses may foreseealdym that they built the Tree Wall with the

intention of ensuring their ability to enjoy th@iroperty in privacy, it does not follow that they

could not have acted with the madias intention to also injure éBeans or that the entirety of
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the Tree Wall is therefore of use to the Williamsase Geigerl70 Conn. App. at 476 (finding
that a portion of the challenged fence was useful to shelter defenpliagerty from “storage of
unknown liquids and other large junk-like objects,” while anoffwetion of the fence served no
such purchase).

The Williams’ motion to dismiss the Bearclaims under Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 52-480,
52-570are denied.

H. Private Enforcement of Stonington Borough Zoning Regulations

The Beans allege that the Tree Wall bloskbstantial portions dhe Bean Property’s
Water Views, Amend. Countercl. 1 95, that the speof tree planted wilikely grow to thirty
feet or more, which would eliminathe Bean Family’s Water Viewd. { 96, and that the Tree
has adversely impacted the prdpes value and marketabilityd.  97. The Beans specifically
allege that the Water Views “were the primagasons Mr. Bean and Ms. Black decided to
purchase the Bean Propertid: 1 24. The Beans further alletfat the Tree Wall violates the
Stonington Zoning Regulations Sections 3,1311.2.%, 3.6.3 and 3.3.1.1° The Williams argue
that, as plead, the Beans have failed to allegectral violation of the gulations at issue. The
Beans have raised a plausibiiolation Stonington Zoning Regations, and the claims may go

forward.

"“The Planning and Zoning Commission has found that the loss of aquatic vistas, blockedibg<aiid
structures which obstruct views of the sea, destroys tiyecharacter of th8orough as a seaside community . . . .
[T]he Borough wishes to protect and enhance theiréngavistas of the sea.” Amend. Countercl. { 157.

8 “Building’s and structures shall be located in suetag as to provide the maximmuviews of the water from the
nearest public street . . .Id. § 158.

9 “Fences four feet or higher must be authorized by the Commission. Fences in excess of six feet imhéight m
authorized by Special Permit only.”

10AJl Construction, modification, or change in use of buildings, facilities, and property within the coastal boundary
shall be subject to . . .. coastal site plan review requirements . . . .”
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Under Connecticut law, “nearby property owsepecifically and materially damaged by
the violation of zoning regulatiomsay bring private zoning enfegment actions directly to the
Superior Court, without first applying to municipal zoning auties, as an exception to the
exhaustion of administrative remedies doctririeeichenbach v. Kraska Enterprises, L1105
Conn. App. 461 (2008gccord Reynolds v. Soffek83 Conn. 67, 69 (1981) (“[A]ny person
specifically and materially damaged by a violataf the zoning ordinances which has occurred
or is likely to occur on another’s land may saglnctive relief restriming such violation.”);
Battistoni v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals of Town of MgrNs. CVV0083195S, 2001 WL 1178683, at
*4 (Conn. Super. Ct. Sept. 6, 2001).

To seek injunctive relief to remedy direcjury from a zoning \lation, the “property
owner” must establish “(1) that injury fromilizre to grant an injunction is imminent; (2) the
injury is substantial; (3) the jury is irreparable and thereassubstantial probability that unless
an injunction is issued the partyeg@ng it will suffer irreparable harmStewart v. GothieNo.
CV990549831S, 2001 WL 686851, at *4 (CoBuper. Ct. May 25, 2001) (citirgarls v.
Alexandra Realty Corpl179 Conn. 390, 401 (1980)). The Beans have plausibly claimed as
much.

The Williamses argue that the Beans have failed to allege imminent or irreparable harm
because allegedly the Williamses twice had thardener notify the Bearms the Williams’ plan
to plant trees along the propelitye. Amend. Countercl. 1 892. The Court is not convinced.
Moreover, absent more factuddtail regarding whahe Beans knew, or should have known, and
when, the Court is not well positioned to asselg the Beans allegedfailed to immediately
raise their hackles at ws of the Williams’ plarto plant taller treeslhe Court also recognizes

that some families and individuals are naturally more litigious than others. As plead, it is by no
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means a foregone conclusion that the Beans $@wehow waived their right to claim that the
Tree Wall amounts to a substel and irreparable injy to the Beans.

It is uncontested, however, that Matthewd &Christopher Bean are not owners of the
Bean homeseeAmend. Countercl. § 22, and thus canm®iproprietors under Conn. Gen. Stat. §
52-480. The Williams’ motion to dismiss is grashi@s to Matthew an@hristopher Bean but
denied as to Mr. Bean and Ms. Black.
IV.  SEALED DOCUMENTS

The Williamses have requested that Ms. Williams’s entire deposition transcript and all
exhibits to that deposition be designatexhfilential under the Cotis Standing Protective
Order. 4/7/2017 Motion to Seal at 1-2. TheaBs object to the Williams’ designation of the
entire transcript of Ms. Williams’s depositi and all exhibits thereto being designated
Confidential.ld. Ms. Williams’s deposition transcript and its exhibits must be unsealed.

A First Amendment “presumptive right of assé applies to both criminal and civil

proceedings, which applies to, “among other things,” “summary judgment motions and
documents relied upon in adjudicating them,” tgegd motions and written documents submitted
in connection with them,” “and docket sheetdéwsday LLC v. Cty. of Nassat80 F.3d 156,
163-64 (2d Cir. 2013) (collecting cases).

There is also a common law right of public ascist is “firmly rooted in our nation’s
history” and “based on the need for fed@@lirts, although independenindeed, particularly
because they are independent—to have a measaccountability and for the public to have
confidence in the administration of justicétigosch v. Pyramid Co. of Onondadga&5 F.3d

110, 119 (2d Cir. 2006) (citingnited States v. Amodgpl F.3d 1044, 1048 (2d Cir. 1995)

(“Amodeo I1)). This common law right attaches ifdmcument is a “judicial document,” or an
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item that is filed and that is “relevant to the penfiance of the judicial function and useful in the
judicial process.ld. “In order to determine whether a juditdocument may be filed under seal,
the court must balance the common law righe@fess against any coetimg considerations,
such as . . . the privacy interests of those resisting disclofa#dele v. City of New Yqrklo.
13-CV-4607 (KAM) (VVP), 2014 WL 2573464, &t (E.D.N.Y. June 9, 2014) (internal
guotation marks omitted) (citingugosch 435 F.3d at 120). “Under both the common law and
First Amendment frameworks, the party seekmfjle a document under seal bears the burden
of demonstrating that sealing is warrantdd.”(citing DiRussa v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.
121 F.3d 818, 826 (2d Cir. 1997)).

Court filings “should not remain under seal absent the most compelling reasons.”
Lugosch 435 F.3d at 125 (discussing both common law and First Amendment rights of access to
documents filed in support of civil summandpgment motion). The basrule is that “[t]o
overcome the First Amendment right of access, the proponent of sealing must demonstrate that
closure is essential to presehigher values and is narrowlyiltxed to serve that interest.”
Bernstein v. Bernstein Lidtz Berger & Grossmann LLB14 F.3d 132, 144 (2d Cir. 2016)
(internal quotation marks omitted). “Broad and general findings and conclusory assertions are
insufficient to justify deprivation of public acegto the record, specifion-the-record findings
are required” if the distriatourt is to seal a proceedird. at 144—45 (finding that attorney-
client privilege concerns were insufficient tafidly sealing of complaint alleging that law firm
partners engaged in kickback schemedefinal quotation marks omitted). Accordingly,

[tlhe party seeking to settie documents in questitrears the burden of showing

that higher values overcome the presumptf access. In certain instances, the

privacy interest of the pson resisting disclosure cae sufficient to overcome

the public right of access. However, arlgimed exception to the right of access

should be based on a particularized simgyof need, and any redactions would be
required to be narrowly tailored &mcomplish the overriding interest.
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United States v. KindNo. 10-CR-122 (JGK), 2012 WL 21966&t,*2 (S.D.N.Y. June 15, 2012)
(internal citations omittedsee also Gambale v. Deutsche Bank 8% F.3d 133, 142 (2d Cir.

2004) (explaining that where a pageeking to keep court docunis under seal “made no effort

to rebut” the presumptive right of access “by establishing that there was a continuing compelling
reason to require that the documents remain usehdf then “the districtourt was well within

its discretion to order that theam on the documents be lifted”).

“In balancing the public right of access agamparty’s privacy intest, a court should
consider the degree to which the subject matteaditionally considered private rather than
public.” Bolia v. Mercury Print Prods., IncNo. 02-CV-6510T, 2004 WL 2526407, at *3
(W.D.N.Y. Oct. 28, 2004) (citindmode@ 71 F.3d at 1051). To the extent that a party to a civil
case requests that a court document or undertioegments from discovery be sealed, courts
recognize that parties tehom the documents pertain may have “a privacy interest,” but that
such privacy interests may be “outweidhe . by the public’s right of acces&.6wn v.

Salvation Army, In¢.No. 04-CIV-01562 (SHS), 2012 WL 88534, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 12,
2012). Courts have found that thegher value” of a party to thease, or even a third party’s
privacy interests may not overcome “the prestiompof access [that] titles the balance in favor
of disclosing th[e] material.ld.

A Court’s protective orders “issued for the poses of facilitating dicovery . . . do[] not
bear on the presumption of access to the motion pafptaffdele 2014 WL 2573464, at *Xee
also Lugosch435 F.3d at 125-26 (explaining that exis&n€ protective ords to facilitate
discovery are not a “strong factor against accass’noting that even in the absence of a
confidentiality order “civil litigants have a legal obligation to produce all information which is

relevant to the subject matter involved in thagiag action” and that “the mere existence of a
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confidentiality order says notiny” about whether using thatdsr “to avoid disclosure [is]
reasonable” particularly because such orderserally “contemplate[] that relief from the
provisions of the order mdye sought at any time®y.

The Court’s Standing Protective Order progider documents or portions of documents
to be designated confidentiafammation that the disclosing gy “reasonably and in good faith
believes contains or comprises (a) trade sgcfl} proprietary business information, or (c)
information implicating an individual’s legitiate expectation of privacy.” ECF No. 11. The
matter before the Court does not concern tradeetgeor proprietary business information, and
the Williamses have made no representation to the Court that designation of the deposition and
exhibits were made confidential because tingylicate a legitimate expectation of privacy.

Because the Williamses have “made no etiorebut” the presumptive right of access
“by establishing that there wascontinuing compelling reasonequire that the documents
remain under seal” the Court orders thatlatuments in this matter be unseal@dmbale 377
F.3d at 142.

V. CONCLUSION

The Williams’ Motion to Dismiss iSRANTED in part andDENIED in part. The Court
grants to the motion to dismiss Count One sremitirety and Count Fivend Count Six as to
Christopher and Matthew Bean. The Court othisevdenies the motion to dismiss Count Two
through and including Count Eight.

The CourtORDERS that all documents in ifymatter should be unsealed.

1 See Gambaled77 F.3d at 141 (“It is undisputed that a district court retains the power to modify ootifttpre
orders that it has entered.”)
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SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut,ith29th day of September, 2017.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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